Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea

1973-1982
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982

Document:-
A/CONF.62/SR.118

118" Plenary meeting
Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of

the Sea, Volume XII (Summary Records, Plenary, General Committee, First and Third
Committees, as well as Documents of the Conference, Resumed Eighth Session)

Copyright © United Nations
2009



List of Documents

4 Resumed Eighth Session — Plenary Meetings

118th meeting

Thursday, 23 August 1979, at 4.35 p.m.

President: Mr. H. S. AMERASINGHE

Organization of work for the ninth session

1. The PRESIDENT drew attention to the General Com-
mittee’s recommendations on the organization of work for
the ninth session in document A/CONF.62/BUR/12, as
amended by document A/CONF.62/BUR/12/Add.1, together
with oral amendments. He observed that the question of the
programme of work for the rest of the eighth session-— the
first item in docuemnt A/CONF.62/BUR/12—had been over-
taken by events and that the addendum applied only to the
organization of work for the ninth session.

2. With regard to the eighth amendment, the representative
of Brazil had suggested at the 49th meeting of the General
Committee that delegations should be asked to address
themselves in the general discussion during the fourth week
to the substance of the existing informal composite negotiat-

ing text and to avoid making comments on questions of a
general nature. '
3. The new text to be added on page 5 of the English text
should appear under the heading ‘‘Final stage’’ and not
“‘Fourth and final stages’”, as in document A/CONF.
62/12/Add.1. The period of ten days referred to in the
third sentence included the eight days mentioned in the first
sentence, plus a two-day grace-period for the submission of
formal amendments. Lastly, in the final subparagraph, the
words ‘‘the rules of procedure and’’ should be added after
the words ‘‘having due regard to’’.

4, Mr. KRISHNADASAN (Swaziland) said that if the new
text to be inserted on page 5 was to be headed ‘‘Final stage’’,
the reference in the final subparagraph to ‘‘the subsequent
stages’’ should be amended.



List of Documents

118th meeting — 23 August 1979 5

5. The PRESIDENT said that the necessary consequential
amendments would be made. If there was no objection, he
would take it that the Conference wished to adopt the report
of the General Committee, as amended (A/CONF.62/88).

It was so decided.

Statement on behalf of the group of coastal States

~ 6. Miss CABRERA (Mexico), speaking on behalf of the
group of coastal States, said that the group had noted with
surprise and concern the recent media reports that the
United States Government had ordered its Navy and Air
Force to undertake a policy of deliberately sending ships and
aircraft into or over the disputed waters of nations that
claimed a territorial limit of more than three miles.

7. That policy, which, in its essentials, had been confirmed
by officials of the United States Government, was contrary
to customary international law, in accordance with which the
great majority of States exercised full sovereignty in their
territorial seas up to a limit of 12 nautical miles, subject to
the right of innocent passage. It was also at variance with the
understanding prevailing at the Conference on the Law of
the Sea, which recognized the validity of such a practice.

8. The group had taken note of the clarification sub-
sequently provided by United States authorities to the effect
that there had been no order to challenge in an aggressive
manner the claims of other nations. However, it considered
the assertion by the United States that the régime of the high
seas commenced beyond the three-mile limit to be an
anachronism.

9. The group of coastal States had also taken note of the
reassurances given by the same official source that the
United States position at the Conference on the Law of the
Sea had not changed and of the elements which, according to
that source, should be combined within the context of an
over-all package deal. The group reaffirmed its determina-
tion to continue working towards the early adoption of a
generally acceptable comprehensive convention on the law
of the sea and hoped that all States would refrain from taking
any action which might adversely affect their relations with
other States or the success of the Conference.

10. Mr. VALENCIA-RODRIGUEZ (Ecuador) said that
his country’s President and Minister for Foreign Affairs had,
in recent statements, condemned the action of the United
States Government as being contrary to peaceful coexist-
ence and as an attack on the sovereignty of States. His dele-
gation had associated itself with the statement made on be-
half of the group of coastal States in the interests of consen-
sus but wished to place on record its disagreement with the
assertion that customary international law supported the
claim of a 12-mile territorial sea. The Hague Conference of
1930 and the Geneva Conference of 1958 and 1960 had dem-
onstrated that there was no generally accepted norm regard-
ing the breadth of the territorial sea. The only thing that was
certain in customary international law was that the breadth
of the territorial sea varied from three to 200 miles in accord-
ance with the unilateral proclamations of States. Accord-
ingly, more than 25 years earlier, Ecuador had proclaimed its
territorial sea to be 200 miles wide and, in so doing, it had
violated no provision of international law whatsoever.

11. Mr. RICHARDSON (United States of America) said
that his delegation was surprised and distressed that press
reports, which were themselves distorted, had caused such
a stir at the Conference, where the views of the United
States with respect to navigation and overflight were well
known to all participants. Press reports notwithstanding,
those views had not changed. The activities of the United
States on the seas were fully in keeping with its long-standing
policy and with international law.

12. At the same time, it remained the firm position of his
delegation that a comprehensive convention on the law
of the sea offered by far the best, and perhaps the last, op-
portunity to establish a universally agreed and conflict-
free régime governing all uses of the world’s oceans and their
resources. His delegation had indicated that it could accept a
12-mile territorial sea, coupled with transit passage of straits
used for international navigation, as part of an over-all pack-
age deal. In that connexion, he noted that the group of coas-
tal States had reaffirmed its determination to continue work-
ing towards the early adoption of a generally accepted com-
prehensive convention. The Conference should not be di-
verted from the common goal of all participants by a debate
on the very differences that had compelled Governments to
enter into negotiations in the first place. The Conference
provided a forum for bridging those differences, and his
Government continued to be firmly dedicated to that
objective.

3. Mr. ARIAS SCHREIBER (Peru) said that his delegation
shared the feelings and legitimate concerns of the group of
coastal States concerning the unfortunate episode involving
the United States Government. On 12 August, his country's
Minister for Foreign Affairs had made a statement condemn-
ing the United States action as inopportune in view of the
ongoing negotiations at the Conference and as reflecting a
position which had been overtaken both by events and by the
development of international law. Official United States
statements, including the statement just made by the United
States representative, which reaffirmed unacceptable posi-
tions concerning the territorial sea and the régime of the high
seas, only partially allayed the concerns of his delegation. In
the view of the vast majority of States, the high seas began
beyond the 200-mile limit. His country exercised jurisdiction
and sovereignty over the seas and the subsoil thereof up to a
distance of 200 miles from its shores, without prejudice to
the freedom of navigation.

14. On 18 August, the Ministers for Foreign Affairs of
Chile, Colombia, Ecuador and Peru had issued a joint state-
ment protesting against the United States policy and reserv-
ing the rights of their Governments against any violation of
the maritime zone in which they exercised sovereignty and
Jurisdiction, without prejudice to freedom of navigation.
That statement had been circulated as document
A/CONF.62/85.

15. Mr. de la GUARDIA (Argentina) said that as a repre-
sentative of one of the three countries named in the press
reports to which the representative of Mexico had referred,
he wished categorically to reaffirm the validity of his coun-
try’s rights in respect of the maritime areas under its national
sovereignty. Argentina’s position was supported by long-
standing practice and the existing state of customary interna-
tional law. His country was prepared to defend its rights
against any State which challenged them. It was convinced
that it was fully justified to require prior authorization for
the passage of warships through its territorial waters. His
delegation had consistently maintained that position at the
Conference and had supported a proposal to that effect sub-
mitted by the delegation of China in the earlier part of the
session at Geneva. The language of the statement made on
behalf of the group of coastal States had not been aggressive
but had merely reaffirmed the rights of the members of the
group.

16. Mr. LOVO-CASTELAR (El Salvador) said that his
country, although it was a member of the group of coastal
States and shared the concerns of the group over the recent
press reports, did not agree with the statement that interna-
tional customary law supported a 12-mile territorial sea. He
agreed with the representative of Ecuador with regard to the
conclusions to be drawn from the outcome of the Hague and
Geneva Conferences. El Salvador had, since 1950, exercised



List of Documents

Resumed Eighth Session — Plenary Meetings

sovereignty over a band of sea extending to 200 miles from
its coasts, without prejudice to the freedom of navigation in
that zone.

17. Mrs. NGUYEN NGOC DUNG (Viet Nam) endorsed
the statement made on behalf of the group of coastal States.
Her Government’s view was that the recent action by the
United States Government constituted a violation of interna-
tional law and practice and an attack on the sovereignty of
coastal States. Her Government categorically rejected the
United States position and would take appropriate measures
to protect its full sovereignty over the territorial sea, conti-
nental shelf and other maritime zones under its jurisdiction.
18. Mr. CALERO RODRIGUES (Brazil) stated for the rec-
ord that his country’s interpretation of existing customary
international law was the same as that given by the represen-
tatives of Ecuador and El Salvador.

19. Mr. TOLENTINO (Philippines) associated his delega-
tion with the criticism of United States policy expressed by
previous speakers. State practice had long ago eliminated the
three-mile limit. If some States wished to maintain that limit,
they were free to do so, but they could not impose it on
others.

20. Mrs. de BARISH (Costa Rica) reaffirmed the support
of her delegation for the statement made on behalf of the
group of coastal States and drew attention to her Gov-

ernment’s views on the subject, as set out in detail in a letter

dated 15 August 1979 addressed to the President of the Con-
ference, circulated as an official document under the symbol
A/CONF.62/81.

21. Mr. KOZYREYV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics)
expressed regret at the fact that the statement made by the
representative of the United States contained no refutation
or denial of the press reports in question. The group of coas-
tal States was therefore justified in its anxiety, to which the
Soviet delegation was sympathetic. On the other hand, it was
a matter of some concern that attempts had been made by
some speakers to justify the 200-mile limit on the basis of the
results of the first United Nations Conference on the Law of
the Sea held at Geneva in 1958, the purpose of which had in
fact been to fix the limit of territorial waters at a distance of
between 3 and 19 miles. Moreover, in the course of the pro-
ceedings of the current Conference, more than 100 States had
spoken in favour of the 12-mile limit. That had to be borne
very clearly in mind in any discussion of the regrettable news
which had appeared in the press regarding the orders given
to the United States Air Force and Navy.

22. Mr. SAMPER (Colombia) expressed support for the
statement made on behalf of the group of coastal States. The
Colombian Government had, individually and jointly with
the other countries of the South Pacific Permanent Commis-
sion, stated that any attempt to ignore the validity of the new
institutions concerned with the sea, especially as it affected
Latin America, was unacceptable. It reserved its rights with
regard to any violations and called for solidarity in the de-
fence of mutual interests.

23. Mr. KE Zaishuo (China) expressed the full support of
his delegation for the statement made by the representative
of Mexico on behalf of the group of coastal States. He said it
was the basic position of his Government that no interna-
tional law existed establishing a uniform limit to the breadth
of the territorial sea, the delimitation of which was a matter
of State sovereignty. It had consistently maintained that for-
eign warships could not enter territorial waters unless they
gave prior notice of their intention and received the consent
of the coastal State in question. In the light of that policy, his
delegation could not but express some concern at the recent
press reports mentioned in the statement of the group of
coastal States. It had noted the statement made by the repre-
sentative of the United States and hoped that, in future, no

action would be taken which adversely affected or
threatened the sovereignty of the coastal States or the
smooth operation of the Third Conference on the Law of the
Sea.

24. Mr. MAZILU (Romania) said that, in the opinion of his
delegation, the territorial sea up to a limit of 12 miles was an
integral part of national territory, and the innocent passage
of warships through the territorial sea was subject to the
prior authorization of the coastal State.

25. Mr. FERRAO (Angola) expressed the support of his
delegation for the statement made on behalf of the group of
coastal States and said that it was unacceptable that any
State should take unilateral action which could prejudice the
outcome of the Conference.

26. Mr. FERNANDEZ BALLESTEROS (Uruguay) stated
that his Government reserved its right over its territorial
waters, as enshrined in its own legislation, which was in
keeping with customary international law.

Place and date of the ninth session

27. Mr. ZULETA (Special Representative of the
Secretary-General) said that, in the light of the decision of
the Conference to hold its next session in two stages and of
the advisability of avoiding any clash with meetings of bodies
established under the Charter, which, because they took
priority, could affect the provision of adequate services, the
secretariat suggested that the first part of the ninth session
should take place in New York from 3 March to 4 April 1980,
and the resumed ninth session at Geneva from 28 July to 29
August 1980, subject, of course, to the agreement of the
Committee on Conferences and the endorsement of the Gen-
eral Assembly.

28. While there was room for some flexibility with regard to
those dates, he reminded members that the first regular ses-
sion of the Economic and Social Council would begin during
the week of 7 April 1980 and that its second regular session,
to be held at Geneva, would not be concluded until the end of
June.

29. Mr. CARIAS (Honduras), speaking on behalf of the
Group of 77, asked whether it would be possible for facilities
to be made available for some three and a half to four days
before the beginning of the first part of the session, in order
to allow for consultatior:s in the contact group. To accommo-
date those consultations, he proposed that the opening of the
session might be delayed until 5 or 6 March.

30. The PRESIDENT said that he would prefer not to
shorten the session in that way, especially since its work
would have to be concluded before the Easter holiday. It was
his understanding that facilities could be made available for
consultations on 27, 28 and 29 February.

31. Mr. CARIAS (Honduras), speaking on behalf of the
Group of 77, said he hoped that the needs of that Group
would be taken fully into account in drawing up the pro-
gramme of work for the session, so that it would be able to
take its full part in the first stage of negotiations.

32. Mr. ENGO (United Republic of Cameroon) inquired
whether similar facilities would be available from 27 Feb-
ruary for meetings of regional or interest groups.

33. The PRESIDENT assured the representatives of Hon-
duras and the United Republic of Cameroon that every effort
would be made to mee’. the wishes of all groups.

34. Mr. KOH (Singapore) inquired of the Special Repre-
sentative of the Secretary-General whether facilities could
be made available for tke resumed ninth session to take place
in New York.

35. Mr. ZULETA (Special Representative of the
Secretary-General) corfirmed that facilities could be pro-
vided and stated once again that any decision taken by the
Conference in that regard would require the endorsement of



List of Documents

119th meeting — 24 August 1979 7

the General Assembly, since a change would have to be
made in the calendar of conferences. That applied equally,
whether the resumed session was to be held at Geneva or in
New York.

36. Mr. EVENSEN (Norway) said there was wisdom in
holding the first part of the session in New York and the
second at Geneva.

37. Mr. STAVROPOULOS (Greece) pointed out that
facilities at Geneva were inadequate, especially since there
were no voting machines.

38. The PRESIDENT said it was his understanding that
some arrangements could be made at Geneva if it became
necessary to resort to a vote, although that might involve
some travelling.

39. Mr. KOROMA (Sierra Leone) suggested that the dates
of the sessions of the Economic and Social Council might be
changed, in view of the fact that the General Assembly had
decided to give priority to the Third United Nations Confer-
ence on the Law of the Sea.

40. The PRESIDENT said that that was out of the ques-
tion; the Conference could never take precedence over a
body such as the Economic and Social Council, established
under the Charter. He believed that for logistical reasons it
might be better to hold the resumed session in New York
rather than at Geneva.

41. Mr. KOH (Singapore) proposed that, for the conven-
ience of delegations, for reasons of economy and ease of
communications with Governments, and also because of avail-
ability of voting machines, both parts of the ninth session
should be held in New York. He had examined the list of
representatives attending the current session and had found
that 242 of them were based in New York and only 14 at
Geneva. While that situation might be altered somewhat
when the session was held at Geneva, there would neverthe-
less be a preponderance of representatives from New York.
Moreover, far more Member States had missions in New
York than at Geneva and that could be an important factor at
the resumed session, when it might be necessary for delega-
tions to communicate rapidly with their Governments. Since
the secretariat of the Conference was also based in New
York, that city clearly offered economies in terms of travel
and expenses. Although he very much hoped that voting
would not be necessary, the possibility of the need for a vote
could not be excluded. It was true that facilities for voting
did exist at Geneva, but they were at some distance from the
Palais des Nations.

42. He hoped the President and other representatives
would find his arguments for holding both parts of the ses-
sion in New York persuasive.

The meeting rose at 6 p.m.



	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


